IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,411

DANIEL EUGENE REMETA,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER
Chief Assistant CCRC
Capital Collateral Regional
Counsel-South
1444 Biscayne Blvd. Suite 202
Miami, Florida 33132

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of an order denying Mr. Remeta's CCRC-South counsel's motion to withdraw due to a conflict of interest.

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

INTRODUCTION

Daniel Remeta is represented by Todd Scher, the Chief Assistant for the Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel for the Southern Region (CCRC-South). On behalf of Mr. Remeta, Mr. Scher filed a motion to intervene in a federal challenge to Florida's use of the electric chair. At a recent meeting of the Commission on the Administration of Justice in Capital Cases, members of the Commission roundly criticized that suit, criticized CCRC-South for representing individuals like Daniel Remeta who have previously litigated a Rule 3.850 motion, and indicated that because of CCRC-South's actions, opposition to CCRC-South's budget would be mounted. These comments included the following:

"[T]here has been a lot of undercurrent of late as to the parameters of what is a proper and appropriate representation that the office of the three CCRs provide . . ."

"[It is] generally felt that once around is enough . . ."

"[F]rankly, I would recommend to this Commission that your representation be limited to one full round of capital relief and no other . . ."

"We haven't assigned what your ethical obligations are."

"[W]e're oversight of you, so we have to look -- you know, when you talk to your children, you've got to kind of find out what's going on . . ."

(Comments of Former Justice Parker Lee McDonald, Attachment A at 40).

"[A]s of this morning while we were going through the Governor's budget recommendations, obviously one of those was the Office of the Capital Collateral Representatives and we sort of flagged that for future, future discussion, because we're very concerned about that."

"[W]hile I was a great supporter of this concept last year, I am becoming less of a supporter of this concept now, and that is because I believe that if, as attorneys we looked at something, we could see that this looks like, like a dilatory tactic or a surplusage or whatever by doing this, and I think all of us who are attorneys up here could look at that and suggest that that's what's happening, and I can recognize pretty well, when I see something that's just being filed for less than I would think would be a good faith effort . . . I think that's something we have got to explore in great detail before this budgetary process is over."

"I feel for the record -- I mean, I can't envision, as a lawyer, in any manner, shape, or form, calling all of these people [listed on the witness list for federal electric chair trial] in good faith, as witnesses."

"I just -- it's a waste of time what you did here [in pursuing the federal electric chair suit]."

"[T]his is a major concern to I think almost every person in the state that wants to see this process moved ahead, and I'm getting tired of hearing the excuses . . ."

(Comments of Senator Ron Silver, Attachment A at 43-44; 71).

"[F]or all this time on a civil matter in a case dealing with the fairness or should we have the death penalty, and the Florida Supreme Court has already made a decision on it, now we're going to the United States District Court, Northern District, and maybe we will go to the Southern District and maybe we will go to another . . . is unacceptable."

"I can't in any good conscience support your budget the next time out."

"I'm just not seeing money well spent, and if I had to make a budget decision right now, I would not be supportive of something like this."

"I figured if you even attempted to do this it would take six months, and we're here to try and move this process along." "Forget about the costs, it goes beyond money. It's the resources tied to it, but also a lot of lives involved, and as much as you're trying to protect your client, we have the interests of the victims and everyone associated to it and the system included, and I don't think there's any fairness in this process to the point that I'd probably not support anything you want to do if this is how you are going to carry forth . . ."

(Comments of Representative Sally Heyman, Attachment A at 6567).

These comments highlight Mr. Remeta's dire situation. The Commission views itself as a CCRC oversight committee, somewhat akin to senior partners in a law firm with supervisory power ("[w]e're oversight of you, so we have to look -- you know, when you talk to your children, you've got to kind of find out what's going on"). By virtue of Rule 4-1.7 of the Rules of Professional Conduct, Mr. Remeta's counsel counsel -- the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-South -- is burdened by a conflict which requires that Mr. Remeta be provided conflict-free counsel. For the reasons set forth in this brief, Mr. Remeta's counsel must withdraw from his representation at this time.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Mr. Remeta was indicted by a grand jury for one count of first-degree murder on July 1, 1985 (R. 2259). Mr. Remeta was tried by a jury and on June 2, 1986, was

^{&#}x27;The members of the Commission could not represent Mr. Remeta because as they indicated, their loyalty is to "the victims" not to Mr. Remeta. If the Commission members are akin to senior partners of a law firm, the entire office is tainted by their conflict. If they are just third parties with control of the pursestrings, they are clearly trying to influence the independent judgment of undersigned counsel.

convicted of premeditated murder in the first degree (R. 2535).² The penalty phase was conducted on June 3, 1986 and Mr. Remeta was sentenced to death on the same day (R. 2239, 2554). Mr. Remeta's conviction and sentence were affirmed on direct appeal. Remeta v. State, 522 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1988). On October 3, 1988, certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court. Remeta v. Florida, 109 S. Ct. 182 (1988).

On February 19, 1990, Mr. Remeta timely filed his Rule 3.850 motion.³ That motion was denied following a limited evidentiary hearing, and this Court affirmed on appeal, as well as denied a state habeas petition. Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1993).

Mr. Remeta then filed a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 2254, which was summarily denied on June 15, 1994. Remeta v. Singletarv, No. 93-148-Civ-Oc-16 (M.D. Fla. 1994). An appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit was subsequently denied. Remeta v. Singletary, 85 F. 3d 513 (11th Cir.), reh'q. denied, 96 F. 3d 1459 (11th Cir. 1996).

²The trial transcript shows the date of the proceedings as May 19, 1986, but unaccountably the verdict is dated June 2, 1986 (R. 2019, 2535).

³At the time, Mr. Remeta was represented by the former Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR). The undersigned counsel Todd Scher was designated to represent Mr. Remeta in January of 1995 following the resignation of Judith Dougherty, who had represented Mr. Remeta until that time. In 1997, CCR was abolished and three (3) regional offices called Capital Collateral Regional Counsel (CCRC) were created. Although Mr. Remeta's case technically fell within the territorial jurisdiction of the CCRC-Middle region, it was decided that Mr. Scher would continue to represent Mr. Remeta given the stage of litigation his case was in at the time, namely, certiorari had been denied by the United States Supreme Court.

On January 3, 1997, Mr. Remeta filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on March 24, 1997. Remeta v. Singletary, 117 S. Ct. 1320, reh'q. denied, 117 S. Ct. 1727 (1997).

On December 9, 1997, Governor Lawton Chiles signed a death warrant on Mr. Remeta. He is scheduled to be electrocuted by the State of Florida at 7:00 a.m. on March 31, 1998.

On January 26, 1998, Mr. Remeta filed a motion to intervene as a plaintiff in the pending §1983 action in the United States District Court for the Northern District regarding the constitutionality of Florida's electric chair (Appendix 1. See Jones v. McAndrew, Case No. 4:97cv103-RH. The suit had been initiated by four (4) clients of CCRC-South -- Leo Jones, Milford Byrd, Roy Swafford, and Raleigh Porter -- and was set for trial commencing on February 23, 1998. On February 9, 1998, Mr. Remeta's counsel received the State of Florida's written opposition Mr. Remeta's intervention, arguing, inter alia, that Mr. Remeta's counsel was acting ultra vires in pursuing federal civil rights litigation.⁴

Due to the State's assertion that Mr. Remeta's counsel was acting ultra vires, CCRC-South filed a Writ of Prohibition in this Court asking that the State be prohibited from making such arguments. See Kenny v. Butterworth, Case No.

⁴In its pleading, the State referred to several quoted remarks from CCRC-South Peter Kenny during the February meeting of the Commission on the Administration of Justice in Capital Cases, and attached the transcript of that proceeding. Until that time, CCRC-South did not have a copy of these proceedings.

.5 The day after the petition was filed, the State filed a quo warranto petition in this Court, naming the undersigned as a Respondent, asserting that the undersigned was acting outside the scope of his statutory authority in representing Mr. Remeta in the federal litigation. See State ex. rel. Butterworth v. Kenny, et. al., Case No. 92,343."

In the meantime, a hearing on Mr. Remeta's motion to intervene was held before United States District Judge Robert Hinkle on February 13, 1998. At the hearing, the State again asserted that Mr. Remeta's counsel was acting ultra vires in his attempt to intervene in the trial. Judge Hinkle orally granted Mr. Remeta's motion to intervene over the State's objection. The plaintiffs, including intervenor Remeta, also filed a motion to continue the trial due to CCRC-South's financial situation, specifically noting that the office had sought relief in this Court (Appendix 3). See Arbelaez, et. al. v. Butterworth, Case No. 92,288. The motion for continuance was denied at the February 13 hearing.

After the February 13th hearing, undersigned counsel received this Court's request for a response to the quo warranto petition. Mr. Remeta's counsel, along with the CCRC-South counsel for the named plaintiffs in the federal suit, thereupon sought to withdraw from their representation due to the conflict of interest created by the State's quo warranto petition as well as the actions of the Commission for the Administration of Justice in Capital Cases (Appendix 4). On February 20, 1998, Judge Hinkle issued an order changing his mind about the intervention, instead

9

9

9

^{&#}x27;This case is set for oral argument on March 4, 1998.

^{&#}x27;This case is also set for oral argument on March 4, 1998.

denying Mr. Remeta's intervention motion because he had sought to withdraw from the case due to the conflict of interest (Appendix 5). He also issued an order granting summary judgment against the plaintiffs and denying the motion to withdraw without prejudice, noting that there remained critical stages of the proceeding left for the names plaintiffs and the putative intervenor Remeta (Appendix 6).

While the federal litigation was ongoing, Mr. Remeta was also actively seeking public records in his Marion County case, and Mr. Remeta sought the assistance of the trial court on several occasions to compel various state agencies to disclose public records pursuant to Chapter 1 19.7 On February 18, 1998, Mr. Remeta's counsel filed a motion to withdraw due to a conflict of interest (PC-R. I)." Later that same day, the motion was argued at a hearing before Judge Angel. See PC-R. 14-104. Mr. Remeta's counsel outlined the procedural history of the federal litigation, the State's quo warranto petition, and the recent comments of the Commission which created the conflict of interest for Mr. Remeta's counsel:

Additional information that I've contained in my motion is really the crux of the matter here -- is that this CCRC South as well as the other two CCRC offices are overseen by what's called "The Committee" -- or "The Commission for the Administration of Justice in Capital Cases," and on February 5th was the most recent meeting of the -- what's commonly called "Oversight Committee."

^{&#}x27;These matters are not part of this appeal, and thus none of the pleadings related to the ongoing public records issues are included in this record.

^{&#}x27;Attached to the motion was a transcript of the February 5, 1998, meeting of the Commission on the Administration of Justice in Capital Cases. This transcript was inexplicably not included in the record and is attached to this brief.

And numerous statements during this meeting have created, in essence, a conflict between me, Mr. Remeta, and my future involvement in this case.

As I stated in the motion, because of the oversight by this legislative body, which is a body of the State of Florida, they have been interrogating Mr. Kenny from CCR South as to litigation strategies involved in the federal lawsuit.

And there have been numerous comments, one of which I did quote in here, saying that if this lawsuit continues that no recommendations for future funding by this commission will be made to the legislature.

And, of course, this commission was set up, specifically, to 'oversee the running of the CCRC offices,' so, therefore, their point of view in the matter will be very significant.

And, in essence, this committee which oversees us is also -- has the pursestrings for our office, and it's clearly a conflict because this agency is basically saying, 'If you continue with this you're not going to get any more money.'

So I'm now in a position where I have to A) attempt to defend Mr. Remeta in the federal suit as well as in any proceeding in this court, and B) I represent twenty-four --twenty-five other clients, and I have an indication now, from this committed that they're not going to receive any more money in the future because of my actions in representing Mr. Remeta.

And I think under the Rules of Professional Conduct it's a clear ethical violation for me to continue in this fashion; particularly, given CCRC's current financial situation, which is a matter that's currently pending, again, in the Florida Supreme Court in a separate written petition that was filed, I believe, on February 3rd.

* * *

I have adverse interests now, conflicting interests, and because of the situation I've -- to protect Mr. Remeta's

right, he has the right to conflict-free counsel as do all the other clients that I represent and that are represented by my office, so, therefore, I felt I had no choice but to seek to withdraw at this time based on this clear conflict.

(PC-R. 20-25).

The State responded that no response "is deserved to such a late-filed motion" and that "it's not a conflict, it's based on matters that've been known or should've been known to Mr. Scher since February 5th of this year" (PC-R. 25).9

Judge Angel initially believed that the crux of Mr. Remeta's complaint was that counsel received a paycheck from the State (PC-R. 26). However, Mr. Remeta's counsel clarified that "I don't want the record or The Court to think that just because I'm paid by the State that that's -- that's the basis of my complaint at this time" (PC-R. 27). Counsel continued:

I don't think that public defenders or judges are -first of all, there's no other state agency, to my knowledge,
that first of all contains -- that of a law firm, essentially, as
CCRC South is; and Number 2, that is overseen by a
specially-created agency also containing many lawyers to
the point where they are hauled before this body,
interrogated as to litigation strategies, and then threatened
to have their budget and their funding taken away if they
continue in a certain course of action.

I don't think that happens to public defenders. There is no sort of oversight committee for them, in terms of the type of committee that's been created here, and certainly, where a public defender or any -- any defense attorney summoned or ordered to appear before a

⁹The motion was filed on February 18, 1998. Mr. Remeta's counsel did not receive a transcript of the Commission hearing until February 9, 1998, when it was attached to the State's objection to Mr. Remeta's motion to intervene in the federal court lawsuit (Appendix 2).

committee and questioned extensively, as in this case, by other attorneys, which is entirely inappropriate, about litigation strategies, that would create a conflict.

(<u>ld</u>.).

Mr. Remeta's counsel then analogized the situation to "Your Honor being summoned or ordered by some body that oversees the judiciary and . . . told you to rule a certain way in a certain case where you wouldn't" (PC-R. 27-28). In response, Judge Angel stated:

THE COURT: I'd go set me a lawyer to defend me.

(PC-R. 28) (emphasis added). Judge Angel went on to state that "I appreciate everything you're saying. Without some statutory or other authority to support it, I'll have to find that that would be a legally insufficient conflict" (<u>Id</u>.).

On February 20, 1998, Judge Angel entered a written order denying the motion to withdraw (PC-R. 6). This appeal ensued.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Remeta's CCRC-South counsel is burdened by a conflict of interest under the Rules of Professional Conduct. The conflict requires that Mr. Remeta's CCRC-South counsel be permitted to withdraw and that conflict-free non-CCRC counsel be appointed to represent Mr. Remeta. The Commission on the Administration of Justice in Capital Cases is a state-created body with a self-appointed obligation to "oversee" the CCRC-South office. However, the actions of the Commission and actions of the State of Florida have created a conflict. Members of the Commission have openly stated that no further funding will be appropriated to CCRC-South due to its continued representation of various plaintiffs, including Mr. Remeta, in federal litigation involving the constitutionality of Florida's electric chair. Members of the Commission have openly reproached CCRC for litigating successor postconviction litigation. Members of the Commission have openly stated that their interests lie with the victims and in expediting the legal process along. Members of the Commission have asked questions that breached Mr. Remeta's attorney-client privilege, requiring disclosure of tactics and strategies in front of the party-opponent who then used the disclosed information in court. Agents of the Attorney General of Florida have expressed that CCRC should no longer continue to exist. These same Commission members hold the pursestrings of CCRC-South, which represents Mr. Remeta. Mr. Remeta's counsel has been placed in a situation of clearly divided loyalties under the ethical canons, and his motion to withdraw should have been granted. The lower court did not have discretion to go behind the assertions of a conflict, as this Court

stated in <u>Guzman v. State</u>. Relief is warranted, and Mr. Remeta should be appointed conflict-free non-CCRC counsel to pursue available state and federal remedies.

ARGUMENT

THE ACTIONS OF THE COMMISSION ON THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE IN CAPITAL CASES AND THE STATE OF FLORIDA HAVE CREATED A CONFLICT OF INTEREST FOR MR. REMETA'S CCRCSOUTH COUNSEL, IN VIOLATION OF MR. REMETA'S RIGHT TO CONFLICT-FREE COUNSEL AND THE ETHICAL DUTIES OWED TO MR. REMETA AND OTHER CCRC-SOUTH CLIENTS BY MR. REMETA'S COUNSEL.

Due to the actions of the Commission on the Administration of Justice in Capital Cases [hereinafter Commission], as well as the State of Florida, Mr. Remeta's CCRC-South counsel has a conflict of interest which can only be remedied by his immediate withdrawal from Mr. Remeta's case. As demonstrated in this Brief, the Commission, which holds the pursestrings for CCRC-South (and the other CCRC offices) has stated that it will recommend no further funding for CCRC-South due to the actions of Mr. Remeta's CCRC-South counsel in pursuing federal litigation about Florida's electric chair." The Commission also expressed its desire to recommend that CCRC-South be prohibited from litigating successive Rule 3.850 motions and stated publicly that it has the interests of the victims to contend with when assessing CCRC-South's funding and ability to litigate. Moreover, the State of Florida's agents have used the words of CCRC-South Peter Kenny against Mr. Remeta in pending legal proceedings, creating further conflict, and has suggested that the current postconviction scheme be abolished and replaced by a system of privately-appointed counsel.

¹⁰Mr. Remeta's judgment and sentence signed by Judge Carven Angel provided "DANIEL EUGENE REMETA be sentenced to death by electrocution" (R. 2554).

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