DANIEL EUGENE REMETA,

Appellant,

v.

· 5.

CASE NO. 92,411

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED MD J. WHITE MAR 9 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT ₿y\_ Chief Baputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. **NUNNELLEY** Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar **#0998818** 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal should be dismissed for want of jurisdiction because it is an unauthorized attempt to appeal a non-appealable order. The *Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure do not provide for* an appeal such as this one, and this proceeding should be dismissed.

The motion to withdraw filed by Remeta's CCRC attorney was properly denied because it is predicated upon the false premise that the Oversight Committee "holds the purse strings" for CCRC's budget. The Committee has no such financial authority. Moreover, the purported "conflict of interest" is not a conflict at all -- it is a legally insufficient claim that has no legal or factual basis. There is no conflict of interest, and the motion to withdraw was

properly denied.

3

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THIS APPEAL IS UNAUTHORIZED

The "appeal" pending before this Court is from the Circuit Court's denial of a motion to withdraw as counsel filed by **Remeta's** attorney. However, that order is non-appealable, given that it is neither a "final" order nor an appealable non-final order. The *Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure* expressly identify and define the various types of orders that may be appealed, and the order that is the subject of this "appeal" is not contained on that list. *See, Fla. R. App. P.* 9.130; 9.140; *see* also, *State* v. *Pettis*, 520 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 1988). The trial court's ruling on the motion to withdraw as counsel is not a final order as that term is defined in the *Rules*, nor is that order one which falls within the categories of non-final orders that may be appealed. Because that is **so**, the "appeal" from the denial of the motion to withdraw should be dismissed as unauthorized and **premature.**<sup>3</sup>

In defining a "final" order (which is what Remeta claims he is appealing), this Court stated:

It is well settled that a judgment attains the degree of finality necessary to support an appeal when it adjudicates the merits of the cause and disposes of the action between the parties, leaving no judicial labor to be done except the execution of the judgment. Gore v.

**Remeta** asserts, in his notice of appeal, that he is appealing a "final" order. (R8).

Hansen, 59 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1952). Final judgments or orders "determine the rights and liabilities of all parties with reference to the matters in controversy and leave nothing of a judicial character to be **done."** Id. at 539. Further, the "piecemeal review of cases is not favored by an appellate court, and care should be exercised by trial judges to avoid, so far as possible, the necessity for successive appeals." Sax Enterprises v. David & Dash, 107 So. 2d 612, 613 (Fla. 1958).

McGurn v. Scott, 596 So. 2d 1042, 1043-44, (Fla. 1992). Stated in slightly different terms:

The test employed to determine the finality of an order is "whether the order in question constitutes an end to the judicial labor in the cause and nothing remains to be done to effectuate a termination of the cause as between the parties directly affected." S.L.T. Warehouse Co. V. Webb, 304 So. 2d 97, 99 (Fla. 1972); see generally McGurn v. scott, 596 So. 2d 1042 (Fla.1992). Once a judgment final, the trial becomes court ordinarilv loses jurisdiction to entertain further proceedings other than those brought for the limited purposes of enforcement of its order. See Volume Servs. Div. of Interstate Corp. v. Canteen Corp., 369 So. 2d 391, 395 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979).

Port Everglades Authority v. International Longshoremen's Ass'n, Local 1922-1, 652 So.2d 1169 (Fla., 4th DCA, 1995). The denial of counsel's motion to withdraw is not a final order, and the appeal therefrom is no more than piecemeal litigation. This appeal should be dismissed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION

"If this constitutes a conflict, the whole government would virtually collapse." Angel, J., on denial of Remeta's motion.

In his brief, Remeta's attorney argues that he has a conflict of interest due to the actions of the Oversight Committee and the

"State of Florida."<sup>4</sup> Initial Brief at 13.<sup>5</sup> The basis for that argument is Remeta's claim that the Committee "holds the purse strings" to CCRC-South's budget<sup>6</sup>. The fatal flaw with that argument is that it is not true. The Committee has no financial authority over CCRC's budget under the plain language of the statue itself. \$27.709, Fla. Stat. That legally incorrect position is demonstrated by Remeta's assertion that counsel is placed:

in a position of divided loyalties -- either continue with his representation of Mr. Remeta in both federal civil litigation and successive state court litigation in the face of the express statements of the Commission, or cease in his representation of Mr. Remeta in order to attempt to salvage the funding for his other CCRC-South clients.

Yet another misdeed by the Committee occurred, according to Remeta, when Rep. Heyman stated that the Committee was interested in the victims and in moving the cases along faster. However Remeta may view that comment, Rep. Heyman's statement is fully in accord with the legislative intent behind the creation of CCRC. §27.2001, Fla. Stat.

6

5

4

The "committee controls the purse strings" argument appears on virtually every page of **Remeta's** brief.

Many of the assertions contained in Remeta's brief concerning what members of the Committee have said are rebutted by the portions of the Committee hearing quoted in Remeta's brief. A number of the "statements" attributed to the members are taken out of context by Remeta. For example, Remeta asserts that Justice McDonald does not believe that CCRC lawyers are governed by the Rules of Professional Conduct. Initial Brief at 16 n. 13. In context, that statement related to whether CCRC's obligation extended to representation beyond the first round of collateral attack litigation. See, Appendix to Initial Brief at 40-41. Likewise, Senator Silver actually said "We have limited resources on the state level and I guess we can argue that the State Attorneys have unlimited funds

Initial Brief at 14.<sup>7</sup> Because the Committee has no financial authority over CCRC-South (or any other CCRC), **Remeta's** motion to withdraw is based upon a legal theory that is plainly wrong. Because the "conflict" claimed by **Remeta** simply does not exist, the motion to withdraw is legally insufficient. The Circuit Court's denial of that motion should be affirmed.

The bulk of **Remeta's** brief consists of no more than histrionic complaints and *ad hominem* abuse directed toward the Oversight Committee (both collectively and individually), the Office of the Attorney General, and any other agency, entity or individual that has ever taken a position contrary to that espoused by CCRC-South. In addition to being based upon a view of the Oversight Committee's authority that the *Florida Statutes* do not support, the motion is legally insufficient because, even putting aside the fact that the Committee has no budgetary authority over CCRC, there simply is no conflict.

In denying the motion to withdraw, the Circuit Court stated:

If this constitutes a conflict, the whole government would virtually collapse. We will not have a government because there's not a public defender who's not -doesn't have the same conflict.

We would never have a criminal case in the State of

This statement by **Remeta's** counsel, that he intends to represent **Remeta** in federal civil litigation, is an admission that he intends to violate the express provisions of §27.7001, *Fla. Stat.*, which forbid such representation.

Florida that could withstand any type of attack. Every public defender would be subject to -- we wouldn't even be able to -- we wouldn't even be able to get a judge -go to Mars [sic] -- every judge is paid by the same treasury, and I've never seen a judge that would shirk his responsibility, enter orders contrary to the interest of the State just because he got a paycheck paid by the state comptroller.

No judge I know of would let that interfere with his duty as he saw it. I've never let it interfere with mine; certainly, in the course of my history I've entered many orders that were unpleasant to every level of government that stands before me.

And I've never let that influence my decision one way or the other. I just like to call them the way I see them. I presume the public defender would **do** the same.

And I certainly would presume that you would do the same, and ultimately in -- as a matter of fact, your conduct indicates to the contrary, which is all to your credit, of course. No lawyer would do anything less.

(R12-13). That analysis is imminently logical, and succinctly states why Remeta's motion to withdraw is legally insufficient. The denial of that motion should be affirmed.

The motion was also properly denied because it is based upon the false premise that the Oversight Committee "holds the purse strings for CCRC-South's budget." That statement, which appears in some form on almost every page of **Remeta's** brief, is untrue. The Committee has no authority over CCRC-South's budget. §27.709, Florida Statutes. While some (but not all) of the members of the Committee are also members of the Florida Legislature, and, in their capacity as legislators, are entitled to vote on the State's budget (which includes **CCRC's** budget), the committee members have

no such financial authority by virtue of their position on the Oversight Committee. Instead, their purpose is to:

e

8

review the administration of justice in capital collateral cases, receive relevant public input, review the operation of the capital collateral regional counsel, and advise and make recommendations to the Governor, Legislature, and Supreme Court.

\$27.709(2), Florida Statutes. The Committee has no power to approve or reject requests for funding made by CCRC, nor does the Committee have the authority to control any appropriations made for CCRC by the Legislature.<sup>8</sup> Remeta's claim that the Committee is vested with "control of the purse strings" is false.

Further, the questioning of CCRC Kenny concerning litigation that is unauthorized under the CCRC statute hardly seems to be outside the legislative mandate of the Committee. If CCRC has acted outside of their statutory authority, **or** if it appears that they may have done so, that is legitimate ground for inquiry by the **Committee<sup>9</sup>.** That questioning concerning CCRC-South's participation

Under §§ 27.7001 and 27.702, *Fla. Stat.* (1997), CCRC is precluded from maintaining the 42 U.S.C. §1983 proceeding that was the

Remeta claims that Rep. Heyman "explicitly threatened not to vote for any further budgetary requests for CCRC-South . ...". Initial Brief at 24; 23 n. 21. That assertion is rebutted on page 19 of his brief, where Remeta accurately quotes Rep. Heyman as saying "I'm just not seeing money spent well, and if I had to make a budget decision right now, I would not be supportive of something like this." Id., at 19. "This" was the civil litigation in federal court concerning the electric chair. Appendix at 66. Remeta singles Rep. Heyman out for particular attention by accusing her of a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Initial Brief at 23, n. 21.

in civil litigation (which is barred by the Statute creating CCRC) is not improper, and has no effect on **Remeta's defense.**<sup>10</sup> The Serbonian bog that **Remeta's** attorney has attempted to create simply does not exist. John Milton, *Paradise Lost* bk. ii, 1. 592 ("A gulf profound as that Serbonian bog/Betwixt Damiata and Mount Casius old,/Where armies whole have sunk: the parching air/Burns frore, and cold performs th' effect of fire."). There is no conflict of interest, and the motion to withdraw was properly denied.

In his brief, Remeta also complains because members of the Oversight Committee questioned CCRC Kenny about the filing of successive motions for relief under *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.* Of course, successive motions are disfavored and are subject to tightly circumscribed restrictions upon the occasions when they will be entertained. See generally, Rule 3.850, *Fla. R. Crim. Pro*, Such questioning is, once again, entirely proper. In the context of successive litigation of claims in Federal court, the Eleventh Circuit made the following observation:

Medina's real problem is with rules or provisions that bar any federal constitutional claim from litigation on

subject of comment by the Committee. That issue is before this Court in Kenny v. Butterworth, Case No. \_\_\_\_\_ and State ex *rel. Butterworth* v. *Kenny*, Case No. 92,343.

Because the Committee is charged with reviewing the administration of justice in capital cases and with reviewing the operation of the regional CCRCs, it is difficult to imagine why that Committee cannot inquire into actions that appear to be directly prohibited by statute.

the merits in federal court, whether the impediments are procedural default rules or second application bars.

In re Medina, 109 F.3d 1556, 1564 (11th Cir. 1997). The same observation holds true here -- there is no conflict merely because Remeta's present attorney does not approve of the successive motion bar, nor is there a conflict because CCRC Kenny was questioned about filing such motions. See, Initial Brief at 16.

Finally, there is no conflict of interest because Remeta's interests are the same as those of all other CCRC-South clients. Obviously, all of CCRC's clients have an interest in avoiding the execution of their sentences of death for as long as possible. See, Thompson v, Wainwright, 714 F.2d 1495, 1506 (11th Cir. 1983) ("Each delay, for its span, is a commutation of a death sentence to one of imprisonment"); Hutchins v. Garrison, 724 F.2d 1425, '430 (4th Cir. 1983) ("[D]elay for whatever reason was almost certainly to his advantage"); Bass v. Estelle, 696 F.2d 1154, 1159 (5th Cir. 1983) ("Understandably, most convicted defendants sentenced to death covet delay, if nothing better can be had . .."). If that delay can be obtained through the vehicle of an unauthorized civil rights action in which Remeta is a named party, the same benefit (delay in execution) accrues to all CCRC clients. In fact, CCRC Kenny said just that in the Committee hearing that gave rise to this proceeding. Specifically, CCRC Kenny stated "...I think that case [Jones v. McAndrew] is the kind of case that will, as I said last

month, affect everybody, everybody on death row . .. ". Appendix to Initial Brief at 56. Rather than being directly adverse to each other, the interests of all of CCRC's clients are the same, insofar as the alleged "conflict" touted as a basis for withdrawal is concerned.

As this Court has repeatedly held:

We agree with the Fifth Circuit's definition of "conflict of interest" set forth in *Foxworth* v. *Wainwright*, 516 F.2d 1072 (5th Cir. 1975). A conflict of interest arises when "... one defendant stands to gain significantly by counsel adducing probative evidence or advancing plausible arguments that are damaging to the cause of a codefendant whom counsel is also representing." 516 F.2d at 1076.

Webb v. State, 433 So. 2d 496, 498 (Fla. 1983) (emphasis added); see also, Barclay v. Wainwright, 444 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1984). No CCRC-South client stands to gain at the expense of any other such client, and, quite simply, there is no conflict<sup>11</sup>. The denial of the motion to withdraw should be affirmed in all respects.

On page 29 of his brief, **Remeta** engages in a remarkably misleading bit of advocacy when he makes the express assertion that the Circuit Court "did not have discretion to go behind the assertions of Mr. **Remeta's** counsel that a conflict of interest

<sup>11</sup> 

The most that can be said against CCRC-South's argument is that nothing can be said for it. However, that does not mean that the claim has merit -- it means that the claim has never been seriously advanced before, and that this Court has never had the occasion to address it. See, e.g., *McKoy v. North Carolina*, 494 U.S. 433, 110 S. Ct. 1227, 108 L. Ed. 2d 369 (1990) (Scalia, J., dissenting).

existed that warranted withdrawal from the case." In support of that statement, **Remeta** relies on this Court's decision in Guzman v. *State*, 644 So. 2d 996, 999 (Fla. **1994**), for the proposition that the Circuit Court had no choice other than to grant the motion to withdraw. Ignoring for the moment **Remeta's** failure to raise this argument in the Circuit Court, even cursory review of *Guzman* establishes that it does not hold what **Remeta** claims. In fact, *Guzman states:*

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